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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Directors’ Report - 31 October 2023

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of Bortex Group Holdings
Company Limited (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 October 2023.

Principal activities

The Group’s principal activities, which are unchanged since last year, are mainly the manufacture, sale and
retailing of quality menswear and ladies wear, the operations of Hotel 1926 in Sliema and Palazzo Jean
Parisot Boutique Suites in Valletta, real estate development and management. The Company’s principal
activity, which is unchanged since last year, is to act as a holding entity.

Results and dividends

The statements of profit or loss and the statements of comprehensive income are set out on pages 12 and
13, respectively. During the financial year ended 31 October 2023, the Group and the Company declared a
dividend amounting to €739,208 (2022: €100,000).

Performance review of the Group

The Group reported a turnover of €22.7 million (2022: €23.9 million) and adjusted earnings before interest,
taxation, depreciation and amortisation, gain from fair value of investment property and provision for
impairment on inventory (adjusted EBITDA) of €5.3 million (2022: adjusted EBITDA €4.9 million).

Calculation of Adjusted
EBITDA

Reference 31 October 2023
€

31 October 2022
€

Operating profit Consolidated statement
of profit or loss

3,708,980 3,016,322

Gain from fair value of
investment property

Note 10 (742,715) -

Provision for impairment on
inventory

Note 28 729,766 -

Reversal of provisions for
stock write-off

Note 28 (149,493) -

Reversal of provision for bad
debts

Note 28 (142,087) -

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, intangible
asset and right-of-use asset

Note 28 1,860,225 1,837,592

Adjusted EBITDA 5,264,676 4,853,914

During the current financial year, the Group reported a profit before tax of €2.4 million compared to a profit
before tax of €1 .9 million in 2022.
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Directors’ Report - 31 October 2023

DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued

Performance review of the Group - continued

Manufacturing and Retail

During the financial year ended 31 October 2023, manufacturing and retail operations registered a positive
Adjusted EBITDA of €2 million (2022: €2.2 million).

Calculation of Adjusted
EBITDA for Clothing
segment

Reference 31 October 2023
€

31 October 2022
€

Operating profit Note 27 1,102,561 1,181,493
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, intangible
asset and right-of-use asset

Note 27 969,242 1,004,303

Gain from fair value of
investment property

Note 10 (565,123) -

Provision for impairment on
inventory

Note 28 729,766 -

Reversal of provisions for
stock write-off

Note 28 (149,493) -

Reversal of provision for bad
debts

Note 28 (142,087) -

Adjusted EBITDA 1,944,866 2,185,796

During this year the Group continued to consolidate its private label manufacturing operations with focus on
selected third party clients along with continued emphasis on development of its “Gagliardi” own label
business and further expansion of its corporate, hire and school wear divisions. Sales in these divisions
exceeded budget expectations with a notably higher contribution than anticipated. Retail sales fell behind
both budget projections and last year’s figures although this was due mainly to the fact that the Mosta outlet
was closed for eleven months of the year for redevelopment. Nevertheless, the Group’s flexible business
model helped maintain contributions at the expected level.

During the year under review the Group continued to improve upon and strengthen its stock provision policy.
This policy will govern provisions concerning retail inventory valuation and other potential risks, with periodic
assessments to ensure an accurate valuation thereof.

The Mosta development project was completed as planned and to budget with the newly built store and
coffee shop opening in September and eleven overlying apartments available to let as from January of
2024.

Hospitality

Throughout this financial year, the Group has sustained its momentum towards achieving outstanding
outcomes from the operation of its two hotels. Once again, 1 926 Le Soleil has surpassed industry standards
in both average daily rate (ADR) and occupancy levels, with revenue and performance outcomes exceeding
budget expectations significantly.

Total rooms revenue (net of commission) from 1926 Le Soleil reached €6 million (2022: €4.6 million) with
an average occupancy of 88% (2022: 74%) and an ADR of €126.06 (2022: €116.26). Revenue from 1926
Le Parisot was €358,226 (2022: €306,951 ) with an average occupancy of 87% (2022: 83%) and an ADR of
€185.87 (2022: €164.20).
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Directors’ Report - 31 October 2023

DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued

Performance review of the Group - continued

Hospitality - continued

31 October 2023 31 October 2022
ADR-
annualised

1926 Le
Soleil

1926 Le
Parisot

31 October
2023

€

1926 Le
Soleil

1926 Le
Parisot

31 October
2022

€
Available rooms
(A)

62,050 2,555 62,050 2,555

Occupied rooms
(B)

54,894 2,213 45,962 2,129

Occupancy %
(B)/(A)

88.47% 86.61% 74.07% 83.33%

€ € € €
Rooms Revenue
(C)

6,920,046 411,326 7,331 ,372 1 5,343,608 349,592 5,693,200 1

Commissions (905,263) (53,101) (958,364) 2 (669,568) (42,641) (712,209) 2
Net Rooms
revenue

6,014,783 358,225 6,373,008 4,674,040 306,951 4,980,991

ADR (C)/(B) 126.06 185.87 116.26 164.20
1 As disclosed in Note 26.
2 As disclosed in Note 28.

Adjusted EBITDA for the entirety of the hospitality operations reached €3.6 million (2022: €2.6 million),
marking a notable accomplishment by surpassing the budgeted EBITDA by 41%.

This achievement can be attributed to the realisation of the brand development strategy, the successful
execution of the digitalisation project, and emphasis on guest personalisation and quality enhancement
initiatives.

Calculation of Adjusted EBITDA
for Hospitality segment

Reference 31 October 2023
€

31 October 2022
€

Operating profit Note 27 2,842,933 1,919,048
Gain from sale of property Refer to the below (408) (160,756)
Gain from fair value of investment
property

Note 10 (177,592) -

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible asset

Note 27 890,983 833,289

Adjusted EBITDA 3,555,916 2,591,581

Real Estate and Property Management

The Group sold a car space during the financial year resulting in revenue on sale of properties of €36,000
(2022: €440,000). Profit thereon before tax was €408 (2022: €160,756).

Sales of properties Reference 31 October 2023
€

31 October 2022
€

Sale of properties Note 26 36,000 440,000
Cost of properties sold Note 28 (35,592) (279,244)
Gain from sale of property 408 160,756
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Directors’ Report - 31 October 2023

DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued

Performance review of the Group - continued

Outlook for financial year ending 2024

Manufacturing and Retail

During 2024, the Group will prioritize the optimisation of the performance of various new locations launched
towards the end of financial year 2023, notably the Mosta complex and the new Barlowes department store
joint venture at Mercury Towers and the new outlet at the Shoreline Mall expected to open during February
of 2024.

Improving sales densities, efficiencies and margins will be key objectives within the retail division whilst
nurturing further selective growth will remain the main objective for the manufacturing operation. The Group
will also continue to actively explore additional property venture opportunities to further enrich its property
management portfolio.

Hospitality and Real Estate

In the forthcoming financial year, the Group will commence the expansion of its hotel portfolio by initiating
construction of a new hotel directly opposite 1926 Le Soleil in Sliema, as well as another small hotel in
Valletta. It is projected that the Sliema hotel will be completed by mid-2025, while operations for the Valletta
hotel are slated to begin at the onset of the next financial year. Moreover, renovations are planned for the
rooftop of 1926 Le Soleil to create a restaurant, as well as a pool and pool deck area. During this transitional
period, the Group will maintain operations at 1926 Le Soleil, with only 38% of the inventory during winter
time due to ongoing works. The full inventory is expected to be available in May 2024. Normal operations
will proceed at 1926 Le Parisot. Despite constrained inventory, both hotels have already exhibited
performance exceeding budget projections during the initial months of the year.

Directors

During the year ended 31 October 2023, the Directors were as listed on page 1. In accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association, the listed Directors presently remain in office.

Financial risk management

There are a number of financial risks that could potentially impact the activities of the Group and Company
and include, but not solely, the following: credit risk, liquidity risk, and currency risk. The Group and the
Company’s objective in managing such risks is the creation and protection of shareholder’s value. In order
to manage and mitigate such risks, the Group and Company employs a number of risk management tools
in its day-to-day operation. Further detail can be found under Note 5 of the financial statements.

Post balance sheet events

Dividend declaration and performance bonus approvals

On 29 February 2024, the shareholders of the Company had approved to pay the executive directors of the
Group a performance bonus amounting to €181,655. On the same date, the Directors approved an interim
dividend amounting to €807,357.

Outlets

Subsequent to year end, the Group opened two new retail outlets.

Financing

The Group has renegotiated its credit facilities with one of its lenders which renegotiations are not yet
effective as of the date of these financial statements.
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 October 2023

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 October

Notes
Group Company

2023
€

2022
€

2023
€

2022
€

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 45,929,472 37,452,285 - -
Intangible assets 8 521,021 276,697 - -
Right-of-use assets 9 7,343,270 6,504,067 - -
Investment properties 10 6,044,014 3,557,285 - -
Investment in subsidiaries 11 - - 3,601,316 3,601,316
Investment in associates 12 162,614 180,935 - -
Investment in joint venture 13 491,746 5,000 - -
Non-current financial assets 14 191,162 759,648 6,766 9,022
Loans receivable 15 - 645,900 - -

Total non-current assets 60,683,299 49,381,817 3,608,082 3,610,338

Current assets
Inventories 17 11,820,515 11,154,886 - -
Contract assets 169,605 66,982 - -
Trade and other receivables 16 4,506,170 4,527,552 485,372 485,372
Current tax assets 1,834 13,158 4,620 4,620
Term placements with banks - 7,929 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 18 3,535,244 2,640,376 9,466 10,989

Total current assets 20,033,368 18,410,883 499,458 500,981

Total assets 80,716,667 67,792,700 4,107,540 4,111,319
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 October 2023

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION - continued

As at 31 October

Notes
Group Company

2023
€

2022
€

2023
€

2022
€

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 19 46,587 46,587 46,587 46,587
Revaluation reserves 20 17,621,028 11,619,960 2,902 5,158
Other reserves 21 704,101 704,101 58,234 58,234
Retained earnings 23,439,924 22,142,038 1,776,287 1,795,578

Capital and reserves attributable to
owners of the parent 41,811,640 34,512,686 1,884,010 1,905,557
Non-controlling interests 22 22,845 18,540 - -

Total equity 41,834,485 34,531,226 1,884,010 1,905,557

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 23 20,723,318 18,787,667
Deferred tax liabilities 24 3,739,888 3,025,516 - -
Other non-current liabilities 21,250 21,250 - -
Lease liabilities 9 7,326,544 6,232,555 - -

Total non-current liabilities 31,811,000 28,066,988 - -

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 3,743,491 3,983,771 2,223,421 2,205,653
Current tax liabilities 136,104 7,706 109 109
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 23 3,097,419 1,080,174 - -
Lease liabilities 9 94,168 122,835 - -

Total current liabilities 7,071,182 5,194,486 2,223,530 2,205,762

Total liabilities 38,882,182 33,261,474 2,223,530 2,205,762

Total equity and liabilities 80,716,667 67,792,700 4,107,540 4,111,319

The notes on pages 18 to 86 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 10 to 86 were authorised for issue by the Board on 29 February 2024 and
were signed on its behalf by:

MR PETER PAUL BORG
DirectorChairperson
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 October 2023

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 October

Notes
Group Company

2023
€

2022
€

2023
€

2022
€

Revenue 26 22,731,958 23,859,878 - -
Cost of sales 28 (12,571,102) (13,892,514) - -
Gross profit 10,160,856 9,967,364 - -

Selling expenses and
other direct expenses 28 (4,943,120) (4,627,431) - -
Administrative expenses 28 (2,632,025) (2,661,439) (19,291) (19,177)
Other operating income 31 1,113,853 354,294 - -
Share of results of profitZ(loss) of associate 12,
and joint venture 13 9,416 (16,466) - -

(6,451,876) (6,951,042) (19,291) (19,177)

Operating profitZ(loss) 3,708,980 3,016,322 (19,291) (19,177)

Finance loss (20,648) - -
Finance income 32 13,236 44,832 1,137,243 -
Finance costs 33 (1,297,539) (1,135,197) - (252)

ProfitZ(loss) before income tax 2,404,029 1,925,957 1,117,952 (19,429)
Income tax expense 34 (367,038) (19,486) (398,035) -

ProfitZ(loss) for the year 2,036,991 1,906,471 719,917 (19,429)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company 2,033,178 1,905,660 719,917 (19,429)
Non-controlling interest 3,813 811 - -

2,036,991 1,906,471 719,917 (19,429)

The notes on pages 18 to 86 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 October 2023

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 October

ProfitZ(loss) for the year

Notes
Group Company

2023
€

2,036,992

2022
€

1,906,471

2023
€

719,917

2022
€

(19,429)

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss
Gains from changes in revaluation of
land and buildings 20 6,396,722
Movements in deferred tax liability on
revalued land and buildings
Net gain/(loss) on equity instruments
designated at fair value through other

20 (481,255) - - -

comprehensive income 20 45,805 (25,642) (2,256) (2,933)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or
loss
Net loss on debt instruments designated
at FV OCI (39,796)

Recycling of accumulated loss on FV
OCI debt instruments to profit or loss 20 39,796
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (844) 12,085 - -

Total comprehensive income
for the year 8,037,216 1,853,118 717,661 (22,362)

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent 8,032,681 1,848,583 717,661 (22,362)
Non-controlling interests 4,535 4,535 - -

8,037,216 1,853,118 717,661 (22,362)

The notes on pages 18 to 86 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Group

Attributable to owners of the parent

Total
€

Share
Notes capital

€

Revaluation
reserves

€

Other
reserves

€

Non-
Retained controlling
earnings

€
Interests

€
Balance at 1 November 2021 46,587 11,685,398 704,101 20,328,017 14,005 32,778,108
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year 1,905,660 811 1,906,471

Other comprehensive income:
Loss from changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVOCI
EWill xchange differences on translation o

foreign operations

14 (65,438)

8,361 3,724

(65,438)

12,085
Total other comprehensive income (65,438) 8,361 3,724 (53,353)
Dividend declared 39 (100,000) - (100,000)

Balance at 31 October 2022 46,587 11,619,960 704,101 22,142,038 18,540 34,531,226

Balance at 1 November 2022 46,587 11,619,960 704,101 22,142,038 18,540 34,531,226
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year 2,033,178 3,813 2,036,991

Other comprehensive income:
Gains from changes in fair value on
revalued land and buildings - 5,915,467 5,915,467
Assets at FVOCI - 90,853 - 90,853

Transfer of fair value reserve of equity
instruments designated at FVOCI (5,252) 5,252 - -

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (1,336) 492 (844)
Total other comprehensive income - 6,001,068 - 3,916 492 6,005,476
Dividend declared 39 - - - (739,208) - (739,208)

Balance at 31 October 2023 46,587 17,621,028 704,101 23,439,924 22,845 41,834,485
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BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 October 2023

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - continued

Company

Notes
Share

capital
€

Revaluation
reserve

€

Other
Reserves

€

Retained
earnings

€
Total

€

Balance at 1 November 2021 46,587 8,091 58,234 1,915,007 2,027,919

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year - - - (19,429) (19,429)

Other comprehensive income
Loss from changes in fair value
of financial assets at FVOCI - (2,933) - - (2,933)

Total comprehensive income - (2,933) - (19,429) (22,362)

Dividend declared 39 - - - (100,000) (100,000)

Balance at 31 October 2022 46,587 5,158 58,234 1,795,578 1,905,557

Balance at 1 November 2022 46,587 5,158 58,234 1,795,578 1,905,557
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - - 719,917 719,917
Other comprehensive loss
Loss from changes in fair value
of financial assets at FVOCI - (2,256) - - (2,256)

Total comprehensive loss - (2,256) - - (2,256)

Dividend declared 39 - - - (739,208) (739,208)

Balance at 31 October 2023 46,587 2,902 58,234 1,776,287 1,884,010

The notes on pages 18 to 86 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 October

Cash flows from operating activities

Notes
Group Company

2023
€

2022
€

2023
€

2022
€

Profit/(loss) before tax 2,404,030 1,925,957 1,117,952 (19,429)

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash
flows:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets 1,860,225 1,831,599 -

Net movement in provisions 28 438,186 -
Share in profits of associates and joint venture 12, 13 (9,416) 16,466
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 28 - 90,001
Finance income 32 (13,236) (44,832)
Dividend income - - (1,137,243)
Finance costs 33 1,297,539 1,135,197
Loss on sale of investments 20,648 -
Gain from reversal of right-of-use asset - (24,928)
Gain on revaluation of investment properties 31 (742,715) -

Operating profitZ(loss) before working capital 5,255,261 4,929,460 (19,291) (19,429)
Movement in inventories (1,411,489) 389,220 - -
Movement in trade and other receivables 372,538 (370,098) - -
Movement in trade and other payables (228,046) (309,529) 17,768 113,712

Cash flows from operating activities 3,988,264 4,639,053 (1,523) 94,283

Interest received 13,236 - - -
Taxation receivedZ(paid) 5,803 (28,988) - 109

Net cash flows from
operating activities 4,007,303 4,610,065 (1,523) 94,392

Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible 7 (4,395,593) (2,061,659)
Purchase of investment properties 10 (1,140,295) (352,408)
Additional investments in joint venture 13 (459,009) (5,000)
Investment in financial assets measured at FVOCI 14 - (654,089)
Proceeds from sale of investment 19 799,026 -

Net cash flows used in investing activities (5,195,871) (3,073,156) - -

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of bank borrowings 1,755,175 (902,695) - -
Payments of lease liabilities 9 (167,023) (144,351) - -
Dividends received - - 405,000
Dividends paid 39 (405,000) (100,000) (405,000) (100,000)
Interest paid (1,312,184) (1,157,488) - -

Net cash flows used in financing activities (129,032) (2,304,534) - (100,000)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents (1,317,600) (767,625) (1,523) (5,608)
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - continued

Year ended 31 October

Group Company
Notes 2023

€
2022

€
2023

€
2022

€

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents (1,317,600) (767,625) (1,523) (5,608)

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 2,572,679 3,328,219 10,989 16,597

Effects of currency translation on
cash and cash equivalents - 12,085 - -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 1,255,079 2,572,679 9,466 10,989

The Group and the Company engaged in the following non-cash investing and financing activities during the year:

Year ended 31 October

Notes
Group Company

2023
€

2022
€

2023
€

2022
€

Non-cash investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7 - 475,000 - -

Non-cash financing activities
Dividend paid 39 334,208 - 334,208

The notes on pages 18 to 86 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of Bortex Group Holdings Company Limited (‘the Company’)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, ‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 October 2023 were authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 29 February 2024. The Company is a
limited company incorporated and domiciled in Malta with its registered office is located at
St. Therese, Hughes Hallet Street, Sliema in Malta.

The Group is principally engaged in the garment manufacturing, retailing and franchising industries
as well as the hospitality and luxury real estate markets. Information on the Group’s structure is
provided in Note 2. One of the Company’s subsidiary, Bortex Group Finance pic (‘the Issuer’) has
issued public bond in December 2017, following which the proceeds were advanced to other
companies within the Group to finance mainly the refurbishment and extension of Hotel 1 926 and the
beach club development project in Sliema, redevelopment of the Group’s existing retail outlet in
Mosta, the development of a plot of land in Mriehel into a mixed-use complex, part fund of opening
Gagliardi retail outlets in a number of overseas territories and refinancing part of the Group’s existing
bank facilities.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (‘EU’) and the requirements of the Companies
Act (Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta). These financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for investment properties, land and buildings and equity financial assets through
other comprehensive income (OCI) and in prior year also debt instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income, which are stated at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the
use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group’s and Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated and separate financial statements are disclosed in Note 6 - Critical accounting estimates
and judgments.

2.1 Going concern

As at 31 October 2023, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by €1,724,072
(2022: €1,704,781). In this respect, subsidiaries have undertaken not to request repayment of
amounts due to them until cash is available. Furthermore, the Company’s shareholders have
confirmed in writing their commitment to continue to provide financial support to the Company for the
foreseeable future so as to ensure that the Company continues as going concern.

Bortex Group (comprising of the Company as the Guarantor (the ‘Guarantor’) and the companies
listed in Note 2.2) has prepared projections for the coming 1 6-month period ending 28 February 2025,
based on forecasts which factor in the current macro-economic environment resulting from a
combination of inflation, increase in the interest rates and in importation costs, uncertainties regarding
future developments and those inherent to the specific industry in which these companies operate.
These forecasts project positive cash flows for the Group throughout. At the end of the current
financial year, the Group has a cash reserve of €1.256 million, together with unutilised overdraft
banking facilities of around €3 million, and forecasts a cash reserve of around €4 million by
28 February 2025. The Directors of the Group have concluded that Bortex Group should be able to
ensure that it does meet its commitments both financial and otherwise, and hence, the Group’s
obligations to bondholders and third parties should be met in full. In this respect, the Directors of the
Group have assessed that the Group is expected to have the necessary funds to finance the payment
of bond interest falling due in December 2023 (which has been already settled by the date these
financial statements have been authorised for issue), in 2024 and going forward. On this basis, the
Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements and considers that there are no material uncertainties which may cast doubt
about the ability of the Group and the Company to continue operating as a going concern.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION - continued

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 October 2023. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the
Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e. , existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee;
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains
control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets,
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries, namely:

Place of Percentage of shares held
business and voting rights

2023 2022
% %

Bortex Clothing Industry Company Limited Malta 100 100
Bortex Group Finance p.I.c. Malta 100 100
Roosendaal Hotels Limited Malta 100 100
Roosendaal Trading Limited Malta 100 100
Gagliardi Polska Sp. z.o.o. Poland 75 75
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied in the financial statements presented, unless
otherwise stated.

3.1 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards endorsed by the
European Union effective in the current year

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the following amendments to IFRS effective during the year:
• Amendments to:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (All
issued 14 May 2020) (effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2022)

These amendments and interpretations do not have an impact on the financial statements of the
Group and the Company. The Group and the Company did not early adopt any standard,
interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.

3.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as adopted by the EU
which are not yet effective

Up to date of approval of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been published but which are not yet effective for the
current reporting year and which the Company has not early adopted but plans to adopt upon their
effective date. The new and amended standards follow:

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 -
Comparative Information (issued on 9 December 2021) (effective for financial year beginning
on or after 1 January 2023)
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction (issued on 7 May 2021) (effective for financial year beginning on
or after 1 January 2023)
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2:
Disclosure of Accounting policies (issued on 12 February 2021) (effective for financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2023)
Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors:
Definition of Accounting Estimates (issued on 12 February 2021) (effective for financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2023)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (issued on 18 May 2017); including Amendments to IFRS 17
(issued on 25 June 2020) (effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2023)
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules
(issued on 23 May 2023) (effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2023)
Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (issued on
22 September 2022) (effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2024)
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:

o Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (issued on 23 January 2020)
o Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Deferral of Effective Date

(issued on 15 July 2020); and
o Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (issued on 31 October 2022)

(effective for financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2024)

Apart from the below, the changes resulting from the above standards, interpretations and
amendments are not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and
the Company.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES - continued

3.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as adopted by the EU
which are not yet effective - continued

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2:
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality
judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide
accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose
their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies
and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting disclosures. The amendments are expected to have an impact on the Group and the
Company disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group and the Company financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception under IAS 12, so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The amendments should be applied to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax
liability should also be recognised for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated
with leases and decommissioning obligations.

This amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

International Tax Reform - Pillar two Model Rules - Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments to IAS 12 have been introduced in response to the OECD’s BEPS Pillar Two rules
and include:
• A mandatory temporary exception to the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising

from the jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model rules; and
• Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the financial statements better

understand and entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes arising from that legislation,
particularly before its effective date.

The mandatory temporary exception - the use of which is required to be disclosed - applies
immediately. The remaining disclosure requirements apply for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023, but not for any interim periods ending on or before 31 December 2023.

The amendments are not in scope for the Group and the Company as the Group is mainly
incorporated and domiciled in Malta, thus the Group is not in scope of the Pillar Two model rules.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES - continued

3.3 Standards, interpretations and amendments that are not yet endorsed by the European Union

These are as follows:
• Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:

Supplier Finance Arrangements (issued on 25 May 2023)
• Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of

Exchangeability (issued on 15 August 2023)

The Group and the Company are still assessing the impact that these new standards will have on the
financial statements.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Group’s and
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which have the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the

closing rate at the end of each reporting period;

(ii) income and expenses for the statement of profit or loss are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

4.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

Construction in progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment loss. All property, plant and
equipment is initially recorded at cost. Land and buildings are subsequently measured at fair value,
based on valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.
Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset
does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is
restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income and presented as revaluation reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases
that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and
debited against revaluation reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the profit
or loss.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

%
1 - 16.67
2 - 33.33
7 - 33.33
5 - 25

13 - 20

Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment
Furniture, fixtures, fittings and soft furnishings
Motor vehicles

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life. Assets in the course of
construction are not depreciated.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control), or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment
are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the statement of
profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating
to the assets are transferred to retained earnings.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

4.3 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not
capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
expenditure is incurred.

The Group assess the useful lives of intangible assets as finite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered
to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in
accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the
intangible assets.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e. , at the date the recipient obtains control) or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising
upon derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss.

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible assets is as follows:

Software
Useful lives
Amortisation method used
Internally generated or acquired

1 0 years
Amortised on a straight-line basis
Acquired

4.4 Investment properties

Investment property comprises completed property and property under development to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both.

Investment properties, principally comprising freehold office buildings and retail outlets, are held for
long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both and are not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
reporting date. Gain or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding tax effect. Fair
values are determined based on valuation performed by an accredited external independent valuer
applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

4.4 Investment properties - continued

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e. at the date the
recipient obtains control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic
benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition. In
determining the amount of consideration from the derecognition of investment property the Group
consider the effects of variable consideration, existence of a significant financing component, non-
cash consideration and consideration payable to the buyer (if any).

T ransfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer
from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is
the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property,
plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

4.5 Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group and the Company
has control. The Group and the Company control an entity when the Group and the Company is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable return from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. These are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Company

Investments in subsidiaries are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration
given, including transaction costs associated with the investment. These are subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated impairment.

4.6 Investment in associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries. The Group’s investment in its associate and joint
venture are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at
cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share
of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the
associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for
impairment separately. Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the
investment.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

4.6 Investment in associates and joint venture- continued

The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate
or joint venture. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCL In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint
venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is presented
on the face of the statement of profit or loss within operating profit and represents profit or loss after
tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture. The financial
statements of the associate and joint venture are not prepared for the same reporting period as the
Group. In fact, these are drawn up for the year ended 31 December 2023 in line with the statutory
requirement of that associate. However, the effect on the Group’s profit or loss is not deemed to be
material. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those
of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group
determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture
is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and then
recognises the loss within ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence and the fair value
of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

4.7 Impairment of non-financial assets including goodwill

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at 31 October and when circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing
the recoverable amount of each CGU to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of
the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses
relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that an asset may be
impacted. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that their carrying amount of the asset
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prioryears.
Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

4.8 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

i. Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s and Company’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group and Company has applied the practical expedient, the Group and Company initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Practical expedient for short-term advances received from
customers, is the promised amount of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component if the period between the transfer of the promised goods or service and the
payment is one year or less.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through
OCI (debt instruments), it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and
interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test
and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refer to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through OCI are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of amounts within a time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are required on the trade date
i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
i. Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
ii. Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt

instruments)
iii. Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and

losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)
iv. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) are the most relevant to the Group and the
Company. The Group and the Company measure financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

4.8 Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR)
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. Interest income from debt instruments are included
under finance income in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group’s and the Company’s debt instruments at amortised cost include loans to related parties,
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and term placements with banks which are
classified under this category.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt
instruments)

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are
met:

The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. Interest income from debt
instruments are included under finance income in the statement of profit or loss. The remaining fair
value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.

During the financial year ended 31 October 2022, the Group’s debt instruments at fair value through
OCI include investments in quoted debt instruments presented under other non-current financial
assets. All investments were sold during the year ended 31 October 2023. Consequently the Group
do not hold debt instruments at fair value through OCI.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group and Company can elect to classify irrevocably its investment in
equity instruments as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the
definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are
recognized as finance income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group and Company benefit from such proceeds as a recovery of part
of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. The Group and
Company hold listed equities as disclosed in Note 14.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) are measured at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL). Specifically:

- Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL. However, a Group and Company
may designate an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration
arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

- Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified
as at FVTPL.
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4.8 Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - continued

In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses including foreign exchange gains and losses,
recognised in profit or loss.

Where applicable, dividend income is recognised with other dividend income, if any, arising on other
financial assets within the line item ‘Finance Income’. Where applicable, interest income is disclosed
within the line item ‘Finance income’. Fair value gains and losses are recognised within the line items
‘Finance income’ and ‘Finance losses’ respectively.

The Group and Company hold no financial assets at FVPL.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised when:

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
- The Group and Company have transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or have

assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group and Company have transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group and Company has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but have transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group and Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks
and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks
and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group and Company continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement.

ii. Impairment

The Group and the Company recognise an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
and the Company expect to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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4.8 Financial instruments - continued

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At
every reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low
credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In making that evaluation, the Group considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

As at 31 October 2022, the Group’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI comprise solely of
quoted bonds that are graded in the top investment category and, therefore, are considered to be low
credit risk investments. It is the Group’s policy to measure ECLs on such instruments on a 12-month
basis. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. The Group uses the ratings from the S&P Global both
to determine whether the debt instrument has significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate
ECLs. As disclosed above, no debt instruments were held as at 31 October 2023.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

ii. Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing loans and borrowings, debt
securities in issue and trade and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
- Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

The only relevant category for the Group and the Company is financial liabilities at amortised cost.
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4.8 Financial instruments - continued

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings, debt securities in issue and
trade and other payables.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

4.9 Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instrument such as debt and equity financial assets and non-financial
assets such as land and buildings and investment properties, at fair value at each balance sheet
date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either:
- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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4.9 Fair value measurement- continued

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
- Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
- Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable
- Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties and
land and building. Involvement of external valuers is determined annually by the Group’s
management. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained.

4.10 Inventories

(a) Goods held in relation to hotel operations and for resale

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV). The cost of inventories is
determined by the weighted average cost method. The cost of inventories comprises the invoiced
value of finished goods bought from third parties which includes transport and handling costs. Whilst
the costs of goods manufactured comprises the cost of the raw materials used and the cost invoiced
by the sub-contractors for manufacturing the garments which includes labour costs and overhead.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses. Provision is made where necessary for obsolete, slow-moving and
defective stock.

(b) Property held for development and resale

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be
held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as inventory property and is measured at the lower of
cost and NRV.

Principally, this is residential property that the Group develops and intends to sell on completion of
development. Cost incurred in bringing each property to its present location and conditions includes:

Freehold and leasehold rights for land;
Amounts paid to contractors for development;
Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services,
property transfer taxes, development overheads and other related costs.

NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices at
the reporting date, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale. When an inventory property is sold, the carrying amount of the property is recognised as an
expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The carrying amount of inventory
property recognised in profit or loss is determined with reference to the directly attributable costs
incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any other related costs based on the relative size
of the property sold.
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4.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. In the statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and net of
outstanding bank overdrafts, as they are considered an integral part of the Group’s cash
management. Bank overdrafts are presented within borrowings in current liabilities.

4.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares or options are presented in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

4.13 Taxes

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in
the statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and
establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting
date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
• When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability

in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

• In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
• When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

• In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax
assets, the Group relies on the same forecast assumptions used elsewhere in the financial
statements and in other management reports. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss.
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly
in equity. Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for
separate recognition at that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and
circumstances change. The adjustment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does
not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Safes tax

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:
• When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the

taxation authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable

• When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part
of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

4.14 Revenue recognition

The Group is in the business of manufacturing and selling garments and other related items and
providing services within the hospitality industry, including sale of properties.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services is
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. The Group has concluded that it is the
principal in its revenue arrangements because it controls the goods or services before transferring
them to the customer. Revenue is recorded net of value-added tax and discounts to customers are
recognised as a reduction in revenue.

The Group measures revenue on a basis that reflects the amount of consideration that it expects to
be entitled to; this measurement of revenue is however limited to amounts to which the Group has
enforceable rights, and it excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
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4.14 Revenue recognition - continued

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation, which occurs when it
transfers control of a promised good or service to a customer. Control of a promised good or service
is transferred to a customer when the customer is able to direct the use of the promised good or
service. A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time unless it meets certain criteria that
indicate that it is satisfied over time.

The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance
obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the
transaction price for the sale, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, the existence
of financing components, non-cash consideration and consideration payable to the customer (if any).

The main performance obligation is to provide hospitality and leisure services as and when customers
make use of the services and buy goods. The transaction price follows a fee structure which is known
at the date of booking or consumption of service or at the date of the sale and thus no significant
estimates are required in this respect.

Management has determined that none of the Group’s contracts with customers contain a significant
financing component as the period between the recognition of revenue and the payment due date is
of less than one year. Consequently, the Group applies the practical expedient for short-term
advances received from customers. That is, the promised amount of consideration is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component if the period between the transfer of the promised
good or service and the payment is one year or less.

Revenue mainly represents income earned from accommodation, catering, sale of goods and
property. Revenue from accommodation is recognized over time whereas revenue from retail sales
is recognized at a point in time.

Sa/es of  goods - retail

The Group sells goods on a retail basis relating to clothing and other related items from the Group’s
owned or leased outlets. Sales of goods are recognised when the Group has delivered products to
the customer and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery does not occur until the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer and the customer has accepted the products.

The goods are a distinct performance obligation and the charged amounts to customers represented
the goods’ stand-along selling prices. These obligations are fulfilled at a point in time when they are
provided to the customers.

It is the Group’s policy to sell its products to the retail customer with a right to return within 30 days
from the date of purchase. The Group does not operate any loyalty programmes. Deferring income
in relation to gift card redemptions is estimated on the basis of historical redemption rates.

Sales of  goods and services

Accommodation and catering revenue correspond to all the revenues received from guests by owned
hotels. The services rendered (including room rentals and other ancillary services) are distinct
performance obligation, for which prices of invoices to the guest are representative of their stand-
alone selling prices. These obligations are fulfilled over time when they relate to room rentals, along
the stay in the hotel, and at a point in time for other goods or services, when they have been delivered
or rendered.
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Property for development and resale

The Group enters into contracts with customers to sell property that are completed. The sale of
completed property constitutes a single performance obligation and the Group has determined that
this is satisfied at the point in time when control transfers. For unconditional exchange of contracts,
this generally occurs when legal title transfers to the customers. For conditional exchanges, this
generally occurs when all significant conditions are satisfied. Payments are received when legal title
transfers which is usually upon the date when the contracts are signed.

For some contracts involving the sale of property, the Group is entitled to receive an initial deposit.
This is not considered a significant financing component because it is for reasons other than the
provision of financing to the Group. The initial deposits are used to protect the Group from the other
party failing to adequately complete some or all of its obligations under the contract. Such amounts
are accounted as contract liabilities in the statement of financial position. The Group has determined
that contracts including the sale of completed property do not contain significant financing
components. In addition, there is no non-cash consideration or consideration payable to customers.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Other operating income
Other operating income is recognised on an accrual basis unless collectability is in doubt.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised for all interest-bearing instruments on a time-proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

Customer contract assets and liabilities

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from customer invoicing. Trade receivables presented
in the statement of financial position represent an unconditional right to receive consideration
(primarily cash), i.e. the services and goods promised to the customer have been transferred.

By contrast, contract assets mainly refer to amounts allocated per IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts
with customers, as compensation for goods or services provided to customers for which the right to
collect payment is subject to providing other services or goods under that same contract. Contract
assets, like trade receivables, are subject to impairment for credit risk in line with the expected credit
loss model. The recoverability of contract assets is also verified, especially to cover the risk of
impairment should the contract be interrupted. Contract liabilities represent amounts paid by
customers before receiving the goods and/or services promised in the contract. This is typically the
case for advances received from customers or amounts invoiced and paid for goods or services not
transferred yet.
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Principal versus agent considerations

When more than one party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the standard
requests an entity to determine whether it is a principal or an agent in these transactions by evaluating
the nature of its promise to the customer. An entity is a principal (and, therefore records revenue on
a gross basis) if it controls a promised good or service before transferring that good or service to the
customer. An entity is an agent (and, therefore records as revenue the net amount that it retains for
its agency services) if its role is to arrange for another entity to provide the goods or services.

After an entity determined whether it is the principal or the agent and the amount of gross or net
revenue that would be recognised, the entity recognises revenue when or as it satisfies its
performance obligation. An entity satisfies its performance obligation by transferring control of the
specified good or service underlying the performance obligation, either at a point in time or over time.
This means that the principal would recognise revenue when (or as) it transfers the specified good or
service to the customer. An agent would recognise revenue when its performance obligation to
arrange for the specified good or service is complete.

4.15 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

4.16 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

I) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets. Depreciation charged varies from 10 to
65 years.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the
asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.
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ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the
lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used
to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset).

If the modification decreases the scope of the lease, such as a change that reduces the total leased
space or shortens the lease term, the lessee remeasures the lease liability and reduces the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease. Any difference between those two
adjustments is recognised in profit or loss at the effective date of the modification.

For all other modifications, the lessee recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset, without affecting profit or loss.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in Note 9, Leases.

Hi) Short-term leases

The Group applied the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

Lessors shall classify each lease as an operating lease or a finance lease. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset. Otherwise, a lease is classified as an operating lease. The Group does not have
any finance lease (Note 9). Under an operating lease, rental income arising is accounted for on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income.
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4.17 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants related to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to
match them with the costs they are intended to compensate. Government grants related to assets,
i.e., in respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment, are included in liabilities as deferred
government grants, and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets, presented within ‘Other operating income’. Grants related to income are
presented as a deduction in reporting the related expense.

4.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation as a result
of a past event, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are
measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the financial reporting date and are discounted to present value when the effect is material.
Provisions are reviewed each financial reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.

4.19 Related parties

A related party is defined as a person or an entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its
financial statements. Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or
indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control, and common significant influence and related parties may be individuals or
corporate entities. Related party loan and other receivables are carried at cost, net of any impairment
charge whereas liabilities due to related parties are initially at fair value and subsequently at
amortised cost.

4.20 Employee benefits

The Group contributes towards the state pension in accordance with local legislation. The only
obligation of the Group is to make the required contributions. Costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

4.21 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

4.22 Financial Guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

If not measured as a financial liability at FVTPL and if not arising from a transfer of a financial asset,
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group and the Company are subsequently measured at
the higher of the following:
a) the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and
b) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised

in accordance with the revenue recognition policies. In the case of financial guarantee contracts,
the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the entity could have to pay if the
guarantee is called on.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

5.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s and the Company’s activities potentially expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management, covering risk exposures for all
Group undertakings, focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the respective company’s financial performance. The Group’s Board of
Directors provides principles for overall Group risk management, as well as policies covering risks
referred to above and specific areas such as investment of excess liquidity. The Group did not make
use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risks exposures during the current and
preceding financial years.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign
exchange relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is
denominated in a foreign currency). The Group is also exposed on the carrying amount of payables,
and receivables denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period. The main
currency giving rise to this risk is Great British Pound.

The risk arising from foreign currency transactions is managed by regular monitoring of the relevant
exchange rates and management’s reaction to material movements thereto.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.1 Foreign exchange risk - continued

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in Great British
Pound, with all other variables held constant. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities. An increase of 5% means that the foreign
currency appreciates over Euro.

Change in GBP Effect on profit

2023 +/- 5%

before tax
€

+7-3,641
2022 +/- 5% +/- 6,376

(ii) Price risk

The Group’s and the Company’s listed equity investments are susceptible to market price risk arising
from uncertainties about future values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity
price risk through diversification and by placing limits on individual and total equity instruments and
business sectors of investees. The Group’s and the Company’s equity investments are all listed on
a regulated market.

At reporting date, the exposure to equity investments at fair value was €1 91 , 1 62 (2022: €292,869). If
market prices had been 5% higher/lower with all other variable held constant, the increase/decrease
in the share’s equity for the year would have been +/- €9,558 (2022: +/- €14,643). In practise, the
actual trading results may differ from the sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material.

(Hi) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowing with floating interest rates.

During financial year ended 31 October 2022, the Group holds a number of investments in debt
securities, mainly issued in the European Union. All the Group’s investments in debt securities carry
fixed interest rate and mature within 10 years. During the year ended 31 October 2023, the Group
sold their investment. Consequently, no debt securities were held as at 31 October 2023.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate
borrowings. The interest rates on the borrowings are disclosed in Note 23 to these financial
statements.
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5. FINANCIL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(a) Market risk - continued

(Hi) Interest rate risk - continued

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on
that portion of borrowings affected, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before
tax.

Increase/decrease in Effect on profit
basis points before tax

€
2023 +/- 250 +/- 211,516
2022 +/- 100 +/- 67,142

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from loans receivable to related parties, cash and cash equivalents, term deposits
with banks, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and
committed transactions. The Group’s exposures to credit risk are analysed as follows:

Group Company
2023

€
2022

€
2023

€
2022

€

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
Loans receivable (Note 15) - 645,900 - 485,372
Trade and other receivables (Note 16) 3,091,413 3,341,834 485,372 -
Loan receivable from joint venture (Note 16) 250,000 - - -
Contract assets 169,605 66,982 - -
Term placements with banks - 7,929 - -
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) 3,535,244 2,640,376 9,466 10,989

7,046,262 6,703,021 494,838 496,361

Undrawn commitments Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

€ € € €
Loans to joint venture (Note 16) 250,000 - - -

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

€ € € €

Financial assets through FVOCI:
Quoted debt securities (Note 14) - 466,779 - -

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of reporting period in respect of the financial assets
mentioned above is equivalent to their carrying amount as disclosed in the respective notes to the
financial statements. The Group does not hold any significant collateral as security in this respect
except for the loans receivable (which are due from related parties) which are secured by properties.
The figures disclosed in the table above in respect of trade and other receivables exclude
prepayments and indirect taxation.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk - continued

Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits with financial institutions

Credit risk with respect to the cash at bank is limited due to the fact that the Group banks only with
local financial institutions with high quality standing. In fact, the majority of the cash is held with a
bank having a BBB- (2022: BBB-) short term credit rating.

Loans receivables to related parties, associate and joint venture

The Group’s loans receivable included loans granted to related parties subject to common ultimate
shareholding (Note 15). The Group monitors credit exposures with related parties at an individual
entity level on a regular basis and ensures timely performance of these assets in the context of overall
Group liquidity management. The Group assesses the credit quality of these related parties taking
into account financial position, performance and other factors. The Group takes cognisance of the
related party relationship with these entities and management determined that ECL is not material
and are in stage 1 i.e. , there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group’s credit risk arising from these receivables is considered limited as there are no other
indications that the related parties are unable to meet their obligation taking into consideration that
the receivables amounting to €1,468,451 presented as part of other related parties (Note 16) are
secured by properties held by the related parties.

Debt securities

During the financial year ended 31 October 2022, the Group invested its excess cash by acquiring
debt securities. The Group’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI comprises solely of quoted
bonds. The Group limits credit risk exposure by diversifying the asset allocation based on whether
the debt securities are investment grade, high yield and non-rated local corporate, with the majority
of the investment is pooled in high yield. The Group does not recognise any provision for expected
credit losses on its debt instruments at fair value through OCI as it did not result in material amounts.

The following table analyses the Group’s portfolio of such assets by rating agency category:

Credit rating
2023
% of debt securities

2022
% of debt securities

A 5%
BBB 20%
BB 24%
B 24%
Not rated 27%

100%

The “Not rated” debt securities are all issued in Malta.

All debt securities were sold during the financial year ended 31 October 2023. Consequently, no
analyses were presented.

Trade receivables and contract assets
The Group assesses the credit quality of its customers taking into account financial position, past
experience and other factors such as forward looking, including forecasted economic conditions
(such as GDP, inflation, increase in importation cost) information specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. It has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are
affected to customers with an appropriate credit history in the case of credit sales. Sales to retail
customers are affected in cash.

Standard credit terms are in place for individual clients, however, wherever possible, new corporate
customers are analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and
service delivery terms and conditions are offered.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk - continued

In view of nature of the Group’s activities and the market in which it operates, a limited number of
customers account for a certain percentage of the Group’s trade receivables which as at year end it
represented 1 .4% (2022: 2.3%) of the Group’s total assets. Whilst no individual customer or group of
dependent customers is considered by management as a significant concentration of credit risk with
respect to trade receivables, these exposures are monitored and reported more frequently and
rigorously. These customers trade frequently with the Group and are deemed by management to
have positive credit standing, usually taking cognisance of the performance history without defaults.

The Group manages credit limits and exposures actively in a practicable manner such that past due
amounts receivable from customers are within contractual terms. The Group’s trade and other
receivables, which are not impaired financial assets, are principally debts in respect of transactions
with customers for whom there is not recent history of default.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. Contract assets have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of time before the
reporting date and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. Credit
loss allowances also include specific provisions against credit impaired individual exposures with the
amount of the provisions being equivalent to the balances attributable to credit impaired receivables.

The expected loss allowance as at 31 October 2023 and 2022 for trade receivables was determined
to be around 1% of the credit sales generated from the wholesale revenue (Note 26) for the respective
financial year.

The expected loss rates also reflect the fact that a 100% loss rate is triggered for receivables which
are past due by 365 days or more.

The Group established an allowance for impairment that represented its estimate of expected credit
losses in respect of trade receivables. The individually credit impaired trade receivables mainly relate
to a number of independent customers which are in unexpectedly difficult economic situations and
which are accordingly not meeting repayment obligations. Hence, credit loss allowances in respect
of credit impaired balances with corporate trade customers relate to entities which are in adverse
trading and operational circumstances. Reversals of credit loss allowances of credit impaired
receivables arise in those situations where customers recover from unfavourable circumstances and
accordingly start meeting repayment obligations. The Group does not hold any collateral as security
in respect of the credit impaired assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments for a period of greater than a year past due.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk - continued

Credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net expected credit losses
and other impairment charges which are presented in the statement of profit or loss within the
administration expenses. Subsequent recoveries of amounts written off are credited against the same
line item.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables

As at 31 October 2023, trade receivables of €441,223 (2022: €496,324) were past due but not credit
impaired. Such past due debtors comprise mainly debts which were still due past the respective credit
terms, together with those debts allocated to the over 90 days past due category where no repayment
terms have been formalised with the debtors. These past due debtors mainly relate to a number of
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. Whilst a limited number of
customers account for a certain percentage of the Group’s past due debts, management has not
identified any major concerns with respect to concentration of credit risk.

Categorisation of receivables as past due is determined by the Group on the basis of the nature of
the credit terms in place and credit arrangements actually utilised in managing exposures with
customers. At 31 October 2023 and 2022, the Group’s past due but not impaired receivables and the
carrying amount of trade receivables that would otherwise be past due or credit impaired whose terms
have been renegotiated, did not result in material amounts and the Group did not recognise any
additional impairment on trade receivables during financial year 2023.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets using a provision matrix:

31 October 2023

Estimated total
gross carrying
amount

Contract
assets

€

169,605

Trade receivables

Current

€

405,332

Days past due
<30

days
€

118,995

30-60
days

€

55,499

61-90
days

€

59,098

>91
days

€

207,631

Total

€

846,555

31 October 2022 Trade receivables
Days past due

Estimated total
gross carrying
amount

Contract
assets

€

66,982

Current

€

1,061,219

<30
days

€

209,706

30-60
days

€

188,923

61-90
days

€

36,140

>91
days

€

61,556

Total

€

1,557,544

Financial Guarantee

For each financial guarantee contract issued, the Group has to determine the amount of expected
credit loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Up until August 2023, the Company had provided a financial
guarantee to secure the banking facilities of a subsidiary for an amount of €1,500,000 (2022:
€1,500,000). Following the payment of the banking facilities the guarantee was terminated. In prior
year, based on an assessment carried out by management, ECL has been quantified as immaterial.
Therefore, the financial guarantee in the Company was deemed not to be material.

45



BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 October 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk - continued

Financial Guarantee - continued

As disclosed in Note 23, the Company has provided a corporate guarantee in favour of the
bondholders for the repayment of the bonds and interest thereon, pursuant to and subject to the
terms and conditions in the prospectus. As disclosed in Note 2, management has carried out an
assessment on the loans receivable provided by the Issuer to other related parties (Note 1) which
has been quantified as immaterial. Therefore, the financial guarantee in the Company is deemed not
to be material.

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its
financial liabilities, which comprise borrowings (Note 23) and trade and other payables (Note 25).
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and committed credit lines to
ensure the availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet the Group’s obligations.

Management monitors liquidity risk by reviewing expected cash flows and ensures that no additional
financing facilities are expected to be required over the coming year. The Group’s liquidity risk is
actively managed taking cognisance of the matching of cash inflows and outflows arising from
expected maturities of financial instruments, together with the Group’s committed bank borrowing
facilities and other related party financing that it can access to meet liquidity needs. As disclosed in
Note 23, the Group had an unutilised banking facility amounting to €9 million (2022: €3.5 million).

In this respect management does not consider liquidity risk to the Group as significant taking into
account the liquidity management process referred to above.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over
Group 1 year and 2 years and 5 years 5 years Total

€ € € € €
At 31 October 2023
Lease liabilities 441,990 458,307 1,436,822 12,245,203 14,582,322
Bank borrowings 1,069,159 1,069,281 2,618,334 3,492,493 8,249,267
Debt securities in issue 478,125 478,125 13,706,250 - 14,662,500
Borrowings from
related parties 31,667 31,667 95,001 285,003 443,338

Trade and other payables 3,743,490 - - - 3,743,490

5,764,431 2,037,380 17,856,407 16,022,699 41,680,917

46



BORTEX GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements for the year ended 31 October 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(c) Liquidity risk - continued

Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over
Group 1 year and 2 years and 5 years 5 years Total

€ € € € €
At 31 October 2022
Lease liabilities 380,150 397,830 1,279,883 10,249,479 12,307,342
Bank borrowings 1,278,909 1,278,909 3,036,607 2,239,125 7,833,550
Debt securities in issue 478,125 478,125 14,184,375 - 15,140,625
Borrowings from

related parties 43,542 42,750 123,501 360,211 570,004
Trade and other payables 3,983,771 - - - 3,983,771

6,164,497 2,197,614 18,624,366 12,848,815 39,835,292

The Group’s and the Company’s trade and other payables are entirely repayable within one year
from the end of the reporting date.

5.2 Capital risk management

For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, and all other
equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The Group’s objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group
and the Company may adjust the number of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The Group also monitors the level of capital on the basis of the ratio of aggregated net debt to total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (as shown in the respective consolidated statement
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity, (as shown
in the respective consolidated statement of financial position), plus net debt.

The aggregated figures in respect of the Group’s equity and borrowings are reflected below:

2023
€

2022
€

Total borrowings 23,820,737 19,867,841
Less: cash and cash equivalents (3,535,244) (2,640,376)

Net debt 20,285,493 17,227,465
Total equity 41,834,485 34,531,226

Total capital 62,119,978 51,758,691

Net debt/total capital 33% 33%
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.2 Capital risk management - continued

The Group manages the relationship between equity injections and borrowings, being the constituent
elements of capital as reflected above, with a view to managing the cost of capital. The level of capital
of the Group, as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position, is maintained by
reference to its respective financial obligations and commitments arising from operational
requirements. In view of the nature of the Group’s activities and the extent of borrowings or debt, the
capital level at the end of the reporting period determined by reference to the consolidated financial
statements is deemed adequate by the Directors.

5.3 Fair values of financial instruments

The Group is required to disclose for financial instruments that are measured in the statement of
financial position at fair value, fair value measurements by level of the following fair value
measurement hierarchy:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).
• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The fair value of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets at FVOCI as at 31 October 2023 and
2022, consisting of equity and debt securities at fair value through OCI traded in active markets, are
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer or broker and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group and the Company is the current bid price. The
Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments disclosed in the table below are categorised as
Level 1 instruments since they are listed in an active market.

Level 1
Group

Level 1
Company

2023
€

2022
€

2023
€

2022
€

Equity instrument designated at FVOCI -
(Note 14) 191,162 292,869 6,766 9,022

Debt securities at FVOCI -
(Note 14) - 466,779 - -

5.3.1 Financial instruments not carried at fair value

As 31 October 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s cash at bank,
receivables, payables, accrued expenses and short-term borrowings reflected in the financial
statements are reasonable estimates of fair value in view of the nature of these instruments or the
relatively short period of time between the origination of the instruments and their expected realisation.

The fair value of non-current financial instruments for disclosure purposes are estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for
similar financial instruments. The carrying amount of the Group’s non-current loan receivable to related
parties fairly approximates the estimated fair value of these assets based on discounted cash flows due
to the fact that the fixed interest rate approximates the current market rate.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued

5.3 Fair values of financial instruments - continued

5.3.1 Financial instruments not carried at fair value - continued

The fair value of the Group’s non-current floating interest rate bank borrowings as at the end of the
reporting period is not significantly different from the carrying amounts. The carrying amounts of the
other financial liabilities as at 31 October 2023, are reasonable estimates of their fair value as there
have not been significant changes in the Group’s internal borrowing rate since the date of transition to
IFRS 16. The current market interest rates utilised for discounting purposes, which were almost
equivalent to the respective instruments’ contractual interest rates, are deemed observable and
accordingly these fair value estimates have been categorised as Level 2 within the fair value
measurement hierarchy required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.

Information on the fair value of the debt securities in issue is disclosed in Note 23 to the financial
statements. The fair value estimate in this respect is deemed Level 1 as it constitutes a quoted price
in an active market.

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

Determining the lease term of contracts with termination options - Group as lessee

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any
periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

In assessing lease contracts, where termination options exist for both the lessor and the lessee, the
Group takes into consideration whether all contractual or economic termination penalties are
insignificant. Such assessment is based on all relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for the Group to exercise or not to. In cases, where termination option is available
without significant penalties, then the lease is limited to the non-cancellable part.

The Group has several lease contracts that include termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it
to exercise termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there
is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to termination.

Property lease classification - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The
Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair
value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all the risk and rewards incidental to
ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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Principal agent considerations

During the financial year ended 31 October 2022, the Group has entered into agreements with third
parties to operate a combined retail shop were goods and services of the Group and of the third
parties are sold. Under these agreements, the Group provides the third parties the right to operate
within designated area of the retail outlet. Through the same agreement the Group will maintain
records, track sales and collect money. All revenue generated from this outlet is accounted by the
Group. On a monthly basis the other parties will invoice the Group for their revenue.

Management have concluded that the Group is acting as an agent in the arrangements and
recognised revenue at the net amount considering that the Group does not bear the inventory risk
before or after the transfer to customer and does not set up the prices of the goods and services sold
by the other operators.

Classification of Milti Company D. O. O. as an associate

As disclosed in Note 12, during financial year 2020, the Group acquired 50% of the issued share
capital in Milti Company D.O.O, whose primary activity is the retail of fashion wear from specialised
stores in Serbia. Based on the assessment carried out by the Group, the investment is classified as
investment in associate due to the fact that the other 50% is held by other three shareholders holding
24%, 19% and 7% respectively. Based on this, management concluded that it is an associate.

Classification of Notos Malta Ltd and Scale Operations Ltd. as a joint venture

As disclosed in Note 13, during financial year ended 31 October 2023, the Group acquired 50% of
the issued share capital in Notos Malta Ltd. and Scale Operations Ltd, whose primary activities are
the retail of fashion wear. Based on the assessment carried out by the Group, the investment is
classified as investment in joint venture since both shareholders have joint control over the entities’
operations, activities, and decision-making. Based on this, management concluded that it is a joint
venture.

Climate-related considerations

For investment properties measured at fair value and land and buildings at revalued amount, the
Group considers the effect of physical and transition climate-related risks and whether these could
impact the value of the Group’s properties.

Management has evaluated potential climate-related risks that could impact the value of the Group’s
land and buildings and investment properties, and these considerations have been included within
the valuation process. These include possible physical risks from climate-change such as potential
damage from extreme weather events, or transitional risks such as changes in property attractiveness
due to shifting climate conditions and increasing requirement for energy efficiency of buildings.

Management has concluded that, based on the information currently available as factored in the
cashflow forecasts, these potential climate-related risks are not expected to have a material impact
on the value of the Group’s land and buildings and investment properties.

The Group remains vigilant and committed to continuously monitoring these climate-related
considerations and will adjust our land and buildings and investment property valuations as
necessary to reflect any significant changes in these risks or in their potential impact on our business.
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Estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its
assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared.
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to
market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes
are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Fair value of  land and building and investment property

The Group uses the services of professional valuers to revalue the land and buildings and investment
property. The professional valuers take into account market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use. The highest and best use of a non-financial asset
takes into account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially
feasible, as follows:

• A use that is physically possible, takes into account the physical characteristics of the asset that
market participants would take into account when pricing the asset (e.g. the location or size of a
property).

• A use that is legally permissible takes into account any legal restrictions on the use of the asset
that market participants would take into account when pricing the asset (e.g. the zoning
regulations applicable to a property).

• A use that is financially feasible takes into account whether a use of the asset that is physically
possible and legally permissible generates adequate income or cash flows (taking into account
the costs of converting the asset to that use) to produce an investment return that market
participants would require from an investment in that asset put to that use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. As described in Note 7 and Note 10, the Group uses
valuation techniques that include inputs that are not always based on observable market data in order
to estimate the fair value of land and building and investment property. Notes 7 and 10 provide
detailed information regarding these valuation methods and the key assumptions used in performing
such valuations.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its
incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimated
when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable input such as the debt
securities in issue and the bank borrowings (Note 23).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

6. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS - continued

Estimates - continued

Provision for expected credit losses of  trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade
receivables as these items do not have a significant financing component. In measuring the expected
credit losses, the trade receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess shared
credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due. The Group calibrates
this data by adjusting the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information such as
forecast economic conditions.

No provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables was recorded during the year ended
31 October 2023 (2022: nil).

Net realisable value of inventories

The selling prices of inventory are estimated to determine the NRV of inventory. Historical patterns
and post year-end trading performance are used to determine these. A provision is made to write
down slow-moving inventory to net realisable value. Following an assessment carried out by
management, the total provision amounted to €879,766 (2022: €150,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Year ended 31 October
2023

Opening net book amount 26,157,232 2,590,942 6,011,479 4,938 2,687,694 37,452,285
Additions 298,222 188,650 271,445 - 4,443,458 5,201,775
Transfer to investment property - - - - (1,744,014) (1,744,014)
Transfer of completed project 1,112,855 250,725 230,623 - (1,594,203) -
Revaluation of land & building 6,396,721 - - - - 6,396,721
Depreciation charge (337,210) (277,026) (759,517) (3,542) - (1,377,295)
Closing net book amount 33,627,820 2,753,291 5,754,030 1,396 3,792,935 45,929,472

At 31 October 2023
Cost or valuation 34,930,050 4,167,866 12,185,071 240,451 3,792,935 55,316,373
Accumulated depreciation (820,882) (1,665,300) (6,661,664) (239,055) - (9,386,901)
Net book amount 34,109,168 2,502,566 5,523,407 1,396 3,792,935 45,929,472

Group Furniture, Assets
fixtures, in course of

fittings construction
Land and Plant and and soft Motor and advance
buildings equipment furnishings vehicles payments Total

€ € € € € €
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - continued

Year ended 31 October
  2022

Opening net book amount 27,205,719 2,749,321 6,439,427 11,570 - 36,406,037
Additions 254,097 230,150 339,159 - 1,703,083 2,526,489
Transfers (984,611) - - - 984,611 -
Transfers from investment property - - 15,080 - - 15,080
Disposal - (89,994) - (2,802) - (92,796)
Depreciation charge (317,973) (298,535) (782,187) (3,830) - (1,402,525)
Closing net book amount 26,157,232 2,590,942 6,011,479 4,938 2,687,694 37,452,285

At 31 October 2022
Cost or valuation 26,945,138 3,979,215 11,935,607 240,451 2,687,694 45,788,105
Accumulated depreciation (787,906) (1,388,273) (5,924,128) (235,513) - (8,335,820)

Net book amount 26,157,232 2,590,942 6,011,479 4,938 2,687,694 37,452,285

Group Furniture, Assets
fixtures, in course of

fittings construction
Land and Plant and and soft Motor and advance
buildings equipment furnishings vehicles payments Total

€ € € € € €


































































